
 
 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 
Date: Tuesday, 22 July 2014 
Time: 
 

5.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 2 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Mark Delap 
Tel: 0151 691 8500 
e-mail: markdelap@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
AGENDA 
 
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 23 

June 2014 
 

3. BUSINESS INVESTMENT GRANT (BIG) AND INTENSIVE START 
UP SCHEME (ISUS) INVESTIGATIONS (Pages 11 - 88) 

 
 Appendix 4: Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Executive Summary - To 

follow 
 
Appendix 5: Full Grant Thornton ISUS Report (Including ISUS Report 
Appendices 1-2 and Documents 1-17) – To follow 
 
Appendix 9: Full Grant Thornton BIG Report (including all documents) 
– To follow  
 

4. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 1)  

 

Public Document Pack



5. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE 
PUBLIC  

 
 The public may be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 

the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information. 
 
RECOMMENDATION – That in accordance with section 100A (4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of business, on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined by the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to that Act. The public interest test has been applied and 
favours exclusion. 
 

6. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2)  

 
 
 



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 23 June 2014 
 

Present: Councillor J Crabtree (Chair) 
 
 Councillors RL Abbey 

J Hale 
S Kelly 
P Doughty 
 

D Elderton 
M Patrick 
A Sykes 
J Walsh 
 

Cabinet Members: Councillors AER Jones and 
AR McLachlan 

 

 
67 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any item(s) on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state what they were. 
 
No such declarations were made. 
 

68 MINUTES  
 
For the Committee to approve their accuracy, the Head of Legal and Member 
Services presented the minutes of the meeting held on 18 March 2014. 
 
The Liberal Democrat Spokesperson sought clarification in relation to a 
number of matters contained within the minutes in relation to the write-off of 
Highways Maintenance Debts (minute 58) and the appointment of 
independent members (minute 60). Further to minute 65, he also questioned 
the absence of an agenda item of a quarterly update upon the use of covert 
surveillance in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA). In response to the issue of write-off of Highway Maintenance 
Debts, the Chief Internal Auditor indicated that follow up audit work was 
scheduled for mid July and feedback would be provided to Members in due 
course. The Head of Legal and Member Services confirmed that guidance 
was still awaited in relation to the appointment of independent members. He 
commented also that the quarterly report on the use of RIPA would be 
presented to the next meeting of the Committee and proposed that an interim 
update would be provided to Members. 
 
Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 March 2014, be 
approved. 
 

69 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2013/2014  
 
In order to meet the statutory requirement set out in the Accounts and Audit 
(England) Regulations 2011, Regulation 4(3), the Strategic Director – 
Transformation and Resources, on behalf of the Chief Executive, presented 
for the Committees consideration and debate a draft Annual Governance 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Statement (AGS) and indicated that a final version would be presented to the 
17 September 2014 meeting. He commented that it was necessary for the 
Council to have approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance that 
complied with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government and to report publicly through the 
AGS the extent to which the governance processes outlined in the Code were 
operating effectively in practice. 
 
He outlined the approach taken in the production of the AGS and indicated 
that the Internal Audit team had been responsible for undertaking the relevant 
assurance work. He set out the sources of evidence and documentation that 
had been provided by Internal Audit and commented that the review of the 
AGS and the accompanying assurances were important roles for the 
Committee. 
 
The Conservative Group Spokesperson expressed concern that an officer 
group, namely the Chief Executive’s Strategy Group (CESG), retained 
ownership of the AGS and he questioned a number of comments set out 
within the document. In particular, he expressed his view that the Council was 
not ‘stable, well-led, open and far more inclusive’. He believed that there was 
little opportunity for pre-scrutiny to be undertaken and questioned also the 
legitimacy of the Council’s decision to join the Combined Authority, on the 
basis that reference to it had been to the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority, rather than to its full and proper title. He suggested that dedicated 
planning sessions to develop the future direction of the Council should be 
open to all Members of the Council. Further questions with regard to the 
decision making process of the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee were answered by the Head of Legal and Member Services. 
Members also expressed concern that the controlling political group should 
have taken the Chairs of each of the Policy and Performance Committees. 
 
The Liberal Democrat Spokesperson commented that although there had 
been some improvement, as indicated in the AGS, more work was required 
on how best to hold the Cabinet to account. He accepted the outcome of the 
recent local government elections, yet believed that the public wanted 
assurance that there would be effective checks and balances in place. He 
highlighted the reputational risk to the Council of Scrutiny Chairs, being 
members of the ruling group, expressing a view in relation to an executive 
decision. He referred also to Principle 6 of the AGS and commented that the 
Council had failed to engage with local people and other stakeholders upon a 
number of issues, in particular, street lighting being turned off against the 
advice of the Police and funding for school crossing patrols being sought from 
schools without any prior consultation. 
 
Members also expressed a view that the Labour Group may have felt 
compelled to take the Chairs of Scrutiny Committees because of a lack of 
engagement by opposition groups, particularly when afforded the opportunity 
to participate training events. Members commented that there were clear 
signs of improvement and hoped that this Committee would continue to 
benefit from its Members working together on a non-political basis and to 
continue to improve the Council’s engagement with local people and 
stakeholders. 

Page 2



 
The Strategic Director thanked Members for their comments, which were a 
good example of the Committee’s stewardship and would inform the final draft 
of the AGS. He emphasised the significant progress that had been made by 
the organisation, which had been echoed by the LGA. The CESG considered 
regular performance monitoring reports, which were also presented to each 
Policy and Performance Committee, who also had opportunity to undertake 
pre-scrutiny in line with their work programme. He also proposed to explore 
how best to improve the way that information from the Council and its partners 
was presented to the public. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Abbey, seconded by Councillor Doughty, it was –  
 
Resolved – That subject to the comments made by Members being 
noted, the final Annual Governance Statement be presented to the 17 
September 2014 meeting of the Committee. 
 

70 CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITORS ANNUAL REPORT 2013/2014  
 
The Chief Internal Auditor presented his Annual Report and Opinion on the 
System of Internal Control 2013/2014. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 
required that a local authority “shall maintain an adequate and effective 
system of internal audit” and, in order to meet the statutory requirements the 
Internal Audit Section has conducted audits to review the operation of the 
internal audit control systems. The work had been conducted in accordance 
with professional standards set by the Audit Practices Board, CIPFA and 
Institute of Internal Auditors. 
 
He commented that significant attention had also been paid to risks in 
Performance Management, Anti-Fraud and Corruption, Corporate 
Governance, Risk Management, ICT Systems and Service Delivery. The 
Internal Audit Plan for 2013/2014 had been approved by the Committee on 19 
March 2013 (minute 56 refers) and had been compiled on a risk assessment 
basis that included consideration of the sensitivity and complexity of all risks 
identified. 
 
He was pleased to report that significant steps had been taken during the year 
to develop and implement more effective control and governance 
arrangements and embed an organisational infrastructure to serve the 
organisation more effectively and prevent a recurrence of previously reported 
control and governance issues. This had been acknowledged by the LGA 
Improvement Board and the Chief Internal Auditor reported that his overall 
opinion was that ‘Assurance can be given that there is a substantially sound 
system of internal control, designed to meet the Council’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently’. In response to comments 
from Members as to how Wirral now compared to its peer authorities, he 
suggested that as a general guide, Wirral would likely sit within a middle 60%. 
However, the audit opinion represented a significant and marked 
improvement from last year. 
 
 
 

Page 3



Resolved –  
 
(1) That the report be noted. 

 
(2) That the thanks of the Committee be accorded to the Internal Audit 

team for the exceptional quality of the work undertaken and for the 
clarity and conciseness of the reports presented to the Committee. 

 
71 AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

ANNUAL REPORT 2013/2014  
 
The Chief Internal Auditor reported that to comply with best professional 
practice, the Audit and Risk Management Committee was required to 
complete an annual report to Cabinet on the work it had undertaken. He 
presented the Annual Report 2013/2014, which had been prepared by the 
Chair in consultation with Internal Audit and he highlighted the key information 
contained within it. 
 
Resolved – That the draft Annual Report be approved and referred to the 
Cabinet. 
 

72 ANNUAL SELF ASSESSMENT 2013/2014  
 
The Chief Internal Auditor reported that to comply with best professional 
practice the Audit and Risk Management Committee was required to complete 
an annual evaluation of its role and effectiveness as part of the systems of 
internal audit. The CIPFA publication ‘A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit 
Committees’ recommended the use of a self assessment checklist to achieve 
the task, and he presented the checklist which had been completed by the 
Chair, together with a draft Action Plan that had been developed following the 
exercise, which identified recommendations to improve the existing 
arrangements and address any risks. 
 
He commented specifically that an action arising from the exercise involved 
updating of the Committee’s terms of reference, insofar as they related to the 
frequency of meetings, to ensure compliance with CIPFA best practice 
guidance. 
 
Resolved –  
 
(1) That the self assessment checklist and draft action plan be 

approved. 
 

(2) That subject to the approval of the Council, the terms of reference 
for the Audit and Risk Management Committee be revised to 
incorporate the following wording, to comply with CIPFA best 
practice guidance –  
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee should meet five times 
in each municipal year unless otherwise determined by Council in 
the calendar of meetings and at such times as determined by the 
Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

Page 4



 
73 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 
The update report of the Chief Internal Auditor identified and evaluated the 
performance of the Internal Audit Section and included details of issues 
arising from actual work undertaken during the period 1 March to 31 May 
2014. 
 
He reported that one item of note was brought to Members’ attention, in 
relation to Golf Course Income and commented that it had been a very 
positive step by the Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment and 
the Head of Sport and Recreation, who had requested an audit review of 
income maximisation from the operation of golf courses, including an 
assessment of the terms and conditions of the individuals providing the 
service. He outlined the audit work undertaken and commented that areas for 
improvement and actions to strengthen the control environment were 
discussed and agreed with managers. Immediate action had been taken 
regarding five of the nine recommendations made, with significant work 
ongoing in the other areas. A follow up audit would be undertaken in August 
2014 and an update would be provided to Members in due course. 
 
He presented also details of those audits where recommended actions had 
not yet been implemented. The period covered was for the 2014/2015 year 
and he had also included for completeness, outstanding recommendations 
made in the fourth quarter of 2013/2014. He indicated that where items were 
addressed, those entries would be removed from the report on a rolling basis 
and he advised that all of the outstanding actions identified were RAG rated 
as ‘amber’, which indicated that progress was being made to address 
identified issues. 
 
He set out also performance of Internal Audit against a number of 
performance indicators in key areas and commented that of the 18 actions 
identified to deliver the Internal Audit Improvement Plan, 16 had been fully 
implemented with good progress being made in respect of the remaining 
actions, within agreed timescales. 
 
Members noted that the issue of golf course income had been raised by the 
Committee over several years and it was suggested that a more in depth 
analysis may be required in relation to maximising income and addressing the 
issue of people playing without paying. The Chief Internal Auditor indicated 
that an update would be presented to the September meeting of the 
Committee and he hoped to be able to include feedback from enquiries made 
of other local authorities as to how best to address the issue. In response to 
further comments made in relation to Asset Management, he indicated that a 
full review of the Asset Management System was to be undertaken in the 
second half of 2014/2015, which would be reported upon in due course. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



 
Resolved –  
 
(1) That the report be noted 

 
(2) That the item of note in relation to golf course income be referred 

to the Families and Wellbeing Policy and Performance Committee. 
 

74 INTERNAL AUDIT COUNTER FRAUD UPDATE  
 
The Chief Internal Auditor presented an update upon the activities of the 
Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit, during 2013/2014 and to date, 
although his report did not include the extensive, specialist activities of the 
Benefits Fraud Team, which were reported separately. He outlined the remit 
of the Counter Fraud Team and indicated that, during the monitoring period, 
the development and recognition of the team had continued with significant 
progress being made, resulting in 16 referrals made to it – an increase of 
some 30% of the cases referred from the previous year. He commented that 
key activities of the team were to –  
 
• Prepare relevant best practice policies and procedures; 
• Change the culture of the organisation by raising awareness amongst 

the workforce to fraud and corruption and through targeted training; 
• Proactively manage the risk of fraud to the Council through targeted 

audits in high risk areas; 
• Provide both a proactive and a reactive response to tackling fraud 

across the authority. 
 
Members highlighted the need to fully support the Fraud Awareness Week 
that was planned during 2014/2015 at which officers and public would be 
made aware of the impact of fraud, not only on the Council but on the wider 
community, and also to encourage the use of reporting mechanisms. 
Members noted also that, whilst much had been made in the media about the 
level of benefit fraud, the Audit Commission report ‘Protecting the Public 
Purse 2013’ stated that this only represented 15% of the total fraud and abuse 
targeted at local authorities. Consequently, the remaining 85% of fraud 
suffered by the local authority was not benefit related. 
 
In response to questions from Members, the Chief Internal Auditor proposed 
to provide a breakdown of ‘fraud’ and ‘error’ in his next update report. He also 
proposed to circulate to Members details of the activities to be undertaken 
during Fraud Awareness Week. 
 
Resolved –  
 
(1) That the report be noted and the work of the Counter Fraud Team 

continue to be supported. 
 

(2) That details of Fraud Awareness Week be presented to the Cabinet 
with a request that the activities planned be fully supported. 

 
 

Page 6



75 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2013/2014  
 
The Director of Resources reported upon the process for completion of the 
Statement of Accounts 2013/2014 and advised that the Council’s Constitution 
allocated responsibility for the approval of the Statement of Accounts to the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee. The Statement for 2013/2014 was 
required to be issued by 30 June 2014 and would be subject to audit by the 
appointed auditors, Grant Thornton, who would present their findings to the 17 
September 2014 meeting of the Committee. The Accounts would be made 
available for public inspection from 21 July to 15 August 2014 and, from 18 
August until the conclusion of the audit process, any local government elector 
for the area of the Council may ask the Auditor questions about the Accounts 
and/or object to the Council’s Accounts. 
 
The Director advised Members that a briefing session would take place on the 
Accounts and whilst, specifically for Members of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, the session would be open to all Members of the 
Council. Following the Committee’s consideration, on 17 September 2014, of 
Grant Thornton’s Audit Findings Report, approval of any amendments to the 
Statement of Accounts, agreement of the Letter of Representation and the 
approval of the Statement of Accounts for 2013/2014, Grant Thornton would, 
before the statutory deadline of 30 September 2014, issue the Audit Opinion 
and state whether the Accounts were a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Council at 31 March 2014. 
 
Resolved –  
 
(1) That the process for the completion of the Statement of Accounts 

2013/2014 be agreed. 
 

(2) That the briefing session for Members on ‘Understanding the 
Council’s Statement of Accounts’ be held on 10 September 2014 
and that all Members of the Council be invited to attend. 

 
76 MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE AND CORPORATE RISK  

 
The Director of Resources reported that Risk and Insurance Management 
comprised two significant areas of activity, one being the provision of advice 
and support to Members and officers in developing the corporate risk 
management framework and processes; the other being risk financing, which 
incorporated insurance procurement management of the Council’s Insurance 
Fund and claims management. The Director set out the key actions to be 
taken during 2014/2015 and highlighted key decisions that would need to be 
made. Progress made since March 2014 in relation to key actions planned for 
2014/2015 was also included. 
 
Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 

77 INSURANCE FUND ANNUAL REPORT 2013/2014  
 
The Director of Resources provided a detailed review of the Risk and 
Insurance activity during 2013/2014 and the plans for 2014/2015 and beyond. 

Page 7



It detailed the underwriting arrangements and recent loss histories for the 
principal areas of insured risk and described the impact of measures taken to 
improve their management. The provisions and reserves within the Insurance 
Fund at the end of 2013/2014 were also confirmed. 
 
The Director referred to her report on the Liability Claims Funding Study 
presented to this Committee on 28 January 2014 (minute 49 refers), which 
estimated that there could be a surplus in the Insurance Fund as at 31 March 
2014. The actual year end position of the Fund was a surplus of £83,000 with 
the following largely responsible for the change –  
 
(i) £178,000 to increase the amount invested in the Liability Section of the 

Insurance Fund to the level proposed in the actuarial report; 
(ii) £250,000 to increase the provision for uninsured liabilities for 

environmental impairment. This facilitated the release of £2.5m from the 
Community Fund back to the Council and to Magenta Living; 

(iii) the profile of liability claims payments in the final quarter of 2013/2014 
were significantly higher than the first three quarters. This meant that 
whole year costs for 2013/2014 were ultimately £263,000 greater than 
the forecast at December 2013. 

 
The Director requested that the Committee endorse the actions outlined in (i) 
and (ii) above. 
 
She commented also that the Council continued to play a national role in 
relation to insurance issues and the ongoing reforms to civil litigation funding 
and costs. Furthermore, Wirral had established a reputation within the market 
as a leading authority on liability claims matters and an officer within the Risk 
and Insurance Team was a Director of Alarm, the Public Risk Management 
Association. Within this role, he had established a special interest group in 
respect of insurance and liability claim matters. This provided a source of best 
practice, sought to improve standards and formally represented the interests 
of the public sector in relation to insurance matters, both within the industry 
and with Central Government. The officer was regularly published within the 
industry journal and was a speaker at national claims events, his expenses in 
relation to this work being met by Alarm. 
 
Resolved –  
 
(1) That the report be noted. 

 
(2) That the actions set out in sections 2.30 (i) and (ii) of the report now 

submitted, be agreed. 
 

(3) That the Insurance Fund Budget 2015/2016 be prepared for 
presentation to the November 2014 meeting of the Committee. 
 

(4) That the congratulations of the Committee be accorded to Simon 
Hutchinson for the role he continues to play, promoting Wirral at a 
national level and increasing the profile of public sector liability 
claims matters. 

 

Page 8



78 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER  
 
The Chief Executive reported that under the terms of the Council’s 
Constitution, one of the functions of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee was to provide independent assurance of the effectiveness of the 
Council’s risk management framework. The Corporate Risk Register was a 
key output from the risk management framework and to support the 
Committee, a report was now presented on a regular basis, detailing the key 
risks facing the authority and how they were being managed. The Corporate 
Risk Register summarised those areas of uncertainty which had the greatest 
potential to prevent or frustrate delivery of the Corporate Plan and confirmed 
how the authority was seeking to tackle them. At a strategic level the risks 
helped to inform future priorities and interventions and the actions required to 
mitigate the risks also influenced the content of Directorate Service Plans and 
the allocation of resources. In that way, they were a key component of the 
corporate planning process and so success in managing those risks was a 
key factor in overall corporate performance. 
 
Governance arrangements for the register required that it be formally 
reviewed each quarter. The review was undertaken by the Chief Executive’s 
Strategy Group (CESG), informed by a report from the Risk and Insurance 
Officer, which summarised potential new risks for consideration and 
significant movements in Directorate and Programme risk registers. 
 
The Liberal Democrat Spokesperson referred to the controls for the corporate 
safeguarding risk (CU1) (minute 61 (18 March 2014) refers) not having 
reflected actions taken to address adult safeguarding. He noted that the issue 
had now been addressed but questioned whether or not it may be more 
appropriate to have separate risk categories, one for children and one for 
vulnerable adults. In response, the Strategic Director – Transformation and 
Resources commented that he would be pleased to take this comment back 
for further consideration by the CESG. 
 
In response to a further question from a Member regarding the need to 
replace the Council’s IT hardware and software, the Head of Financial 
Services indicated that much of the equipment had been delivered to IT 
Services and the roll-out was due to commence imminently and to be 
completed by the end of the calendar year. 
 
Resolved –  
 
(1) That the report be noted. 

 
(2) That further reports on the Corporate Risk Register be presented to 

future meetings of the Committee. 
 

79 AUDIT PLAN FOR WIRRAL COUNCIL  
 
The Director – Assurance (Grant Thornton UK LLP) presented the Audit Plan 
for Wirral Council for the year ended 31 March 2014, which outlined the audit 
strategy and plan to deliver the audit. He outlined the Auditor’s understanding 
of the challenges and opportunities the Council was facing and referred to the 

Page 9



impact of key developments and other requirements that were relevant to the 
Council and the audit. In addition to two presumed significant risks which were 
applicable to all audits under International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) he 
set out other risks of material misstatement that had been identified and he 
highlighted work that had been completed during the interim visit and further 
work that was planned. 
 
The Code of Audit Practice and associated guidance also required a 
conclusion to be issued on whether the Council had put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
its resources. This was known as the Value for Money (VfM) conclusion, 
which would be based upon criteria issued by the Audit Commission. Work 
would be undertaken to address risks that had been identified by a risk 
assessment and he indicated that the results of the VfM audit work and key 
messages arising would be reported in the Audit Findings report and in the 
Annual Audit Letter. He reported also the details of fees charged and set out 
the communication plan, to ensure that any adverse or unexpected findings 
affecting the audit would be communicated on a timely basis to the Council. 
 
Resolved – That the Audit Plan be noted. 
 

80 CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR THE SUPPLY OF THE WORKING WIRRAL 
PROGRAMME  
 
The Strategic Director – Transformation and Resources presented the report 
of the Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment, which notified the 
Committee of the delegated decision to extend the contract for the supply of 
the Working Wirral programme for a period of 10 months from 1 April 2014 to 
30 January 2015, at a cost of £700,000. He provided an overview of the 
Working Wirral programme (operating name of ReachOut Partnership), which 
was delivered by a consortium of voluntary sector partners led by Involve 
Northwest and supported the Council to address worklessness issues in 
Wirral. He provided a review of performance for the programme for the period 
1 September 2013 to 31 March 2014, which demonstrated that the supplier 
had exceeded contracted outcomes, and he set out headline targets for the 
duration of the new contract. 
 
Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 
 
   
 

Page 10



 1 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
DATE 22 JULY 2014 
 
SUBJECT BUSINESS INVESTMENT GRANT (BIG) 

AND INTENSIVE START-UP SUPPORT 
(ISUS) INVESTIGATIONS 
 

WARD/S AFFECTED ALL 
REPORT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
KEY DECISION NO 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to share the outcomes from Grant Thornton’s 

reports into the Business Investment Grant (BIG) and Intensive Start-Up 
Support (ISUS) schemes with the Audit and Risk Management Committee.  

 
1.2. This report contains the initial draft reports produced by the former Chief 

Internal Auditor. The initial draft reports are attached at Appendix 1 and 2. 
 
1.3. A review, requested by the Chief Executive, of the initial draft reports 

undertaken by the then Interim Director of Finance is attached at Appendix 3. 
This review recommended that an external firm of accountants or solicitors 
specialising in investigations for local authorities reviewed the evidence, 
allegations and investigations that had taken place in relation to both BIG and 
ISUS. 

 
1.4. Following a tender process Grant Thornton were appointed to deliver this 

work. The ISUS reports, appendices and documents to accompany the 
reports are attached at Appendix 5, with the Executive Summary at Appendix 
4. The BIG report is attached at Appendix 9, with the accompanying Executive 
Summary attached at Appendix 10. 

 
1.5. Grant Thornton recommended that the Council consider referring the findings 

of its report into ISUS to the Police. As the provider was the same for the BIG 
scheme, the Council made the decision to also refer the BIG report to the 
Police for their consideration, in the interests of openness and transparency. 
The Police, after reviewing both reports, subsequently wrote to the Council 
advising that no action was to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s 
draft reports. See Appendix 6 for the Police letter. 

 
1.6.   Given that ISUS utilised North West Development Agency (NWDA) Funding, 

the ISUS report was initially referred by the Council to the Department for 
Business, Innovation and Skills (’BIS’) and thereafter to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (‘DCLG’) for consideration following the 
abolition of the NWDA. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 2 

1.7. To assist the Committee, a further two summary reports have been produced 
(see Appendix 7 and 8) by the Council, each of which provides a summary of 
events and background from the period when the matters were first raised 
with the Council to the point at which Grant Thornton provided its finalised 
reports.  

 
2.0. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 
2.1. In June 2011 a former employee of Enterprise Solutions Ltd raised concerns 

about the BIG and ISUS grant programmes with the Council’s Director of 
Regeneration, who immediately notified the Council’s Monitoring Officer when 
it became evident that the complaint was made under PIDA.  

 
2.2.    The complainant was subsequently joined by a second former employee of the 

same company in raising these concerns. 
 
2.3. These concerns were the subject of an investigation by the Council’s Chief 

Internal Auditor as referenced at paragraph 1.2, before the decision was taken 
to appoint an external firm to review the evidence, allegations and 
investigations that had taken place.  

 
2.4. In March 2013 Grant Thornton delivered two draft reports to the Council, in 

relation to BIG and ISUS respectively. 
 
2.5. Grant Thornton reported that no concerns were identified regarding the 

integrity or honesty of any Wirral Council employees. 
 
2.6. Acting on recommendations made by Grant Thornton in relation to ISUS, the 

Council referred the two draft reports to the Police. The ISUS and BIG reports 
were also referred to BIS. 

 
2.7.   Merseyside Police wrote to the Council on 23rd April 2014 advising that no 

action was to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s draft reports. 
 
2.8. The Council reported the Police response to the external investigator. The 

finalised Grant Thornton reports were received by Wirral Council in May 2014. 
 
2.9. The Council is still awaiting a final response from BIS. 
 
3.0. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1. The recommendations made by Grant Thornton in relation to monitoring and 

best practice have been noted and actioned where appropriate. 
 
3.2. The BIG and ISUS schemes have been mostly successful funding 

programmes and have both had a positive effect on Wirral’s economy and 
business community.  

 

Page 12



 3 

3.3. Merseyside Police conducted their own investigation and notified Wirral 
Council that no action was to be taken, commenting on the Council’s 
openness and assistance during the enquiry. 

 
 
4.0. RELEVANT RISKS 
 
4.1. The Council, when it became aware of the allegations, initiated steps to 

ensure they were investigated. Matters have been kept under review and 
when appropriate additional steps taken to ensure the allegations were 
investigated. 

 
4.2. The Council has endeavoured to investigate the allegations that have been 

made and has referred them to the Police and BIS. 
 
5.0. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
5.1.  No other options considered. 
 
6.0. CONSULTATION 
 
6.1. Requisite consultation has taken place with Grant Thornton with regards to 

disclosure of the reports. 
 
7.0. IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 
 
7.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
8.0. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. Inevitably there are resource implications arising in undertaking investigations 

of this kind. However, such issues whilst relevant are not overriding factors 
when dealing with allegations and issues of the kind stated in this report and 
the appendices. 

 
9.0. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. The Council has an obligation to consider the allegations and issues that have 

been raised. The Council must consider the findings and conclusions 
reached. 

 
9.2. The Council must reach its decision on further steps/actions based on the 

evidence available.  
 
10.0. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality? 
 
 No because there is no relevance to equality. 

Page 13



 4 

 
11.0. CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
12.0. PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
13.0. RECOMMENDATION 
 
13.1. That the Committee: 
 

a. notes the report;  
 
b. accepts the findings reported by Grant Thornton and Merseyside 

  Police into the allegations made in respect of BIG and ISUS  
  grant programmes; and 

 
c. Subject to the response of the Department for Communities and 

Local Government (‘DCLG’), the Chief Executive shall undertake 
all necessary steps to address any points/issues raised by 
DCLG and report back to this Committee.  

 
 
14.0. REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
14.1. To provide Members of the Committee with assurance that the Council has 

investigated the allegations made by the complainants and taken appropriate 
action in response to the findings identified by Grant Thornton.  

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Graham Burgess 
  Chief Executive 
  telephone:  0151 691 8589 
  email: grahamburgess@wirral.gov.uk  
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Internal Audit Draft BIG Report 
Appendix 2: Internal Audit Draft ISUS Report 
Appendix 3: Review of Internal Audit Reports 
Appendix 4: Grant Thornton ISUS Report - Executive Summary 
Appendix 5: Full Grant Thornton ISUS Report (Including ISUS Report Appendices 1-
2 and Documents 1-17) 
Appendix 6: Letter from Merseyside Police 
Appendix 7: BIG Summary Report 
Appendix 8: ISUS Summary Report 
Appendix 9: Full Grant Thornton BIG Report (including all documents) 

Page 14



 5 

Appendix 10: Grant Thornton BIG Report - Executive Summary 
 

REFERENCE MATERIAL 

N/A 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Audit and Risk Management Committee   

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

BIG 
 

 
The BIG process 

 
1.1 Council of 2nd March 2009 agreed a £50,000 grant programme, along with 

£400,000 of Working Wirral funding, to be made available ‘for one year to give 
immediate support to previously successful micro businesses employing 10 or 
fewer employees who now face difficulties as a result of the credit crunch1’.  

 
1.2 The grant programme was referred to as the Business Investment Grant (BIG) 

Fund or BIG Support Grant.  
 
1.3 A Cabinet decision of 23rd February 20092 had targeted the creation of new 

employment opportunities as the main aim of the fund. A Cabinet decision of 
19th March 20093 widened this to include supporting the sustainability of the 
business. 
 

1.4 The BIG fund was a capital investment programme aimed at supporting 
companies who, during the economic downturn, had experienced problems in 
securing capital investment. It was hoped that, through the availability of this 
funding from the Council, this would encourage financial and other institutions 
to invest in Wirral businesses.  
 

1.5 The funding available ranged from £4,000 to a maximum of £20,000 per 
project. 
 

1.6 Businesses prepared a BIG application with the support of Enterprise 
Solutions (NW) Limited. 
 

1.7 For each application, the Chief Accountant of the Council’s Finance 
Department reviewed the financial information submitted and provided Invest 
Wirral with a memorandum with comments on the application and financial 
information. 
 

1.8 Council officers, taking account of the Chief Accountant’s comments, 
prepared a BIG Appraisal form which was then circulated to the BIG Panel to 
decide whether to accept the application. If the panel agreed the 
recommendation to approve an application, a report was presented to the 
relevant cabinet member for them to authorise. 
 

1.9 The panel was made up of council officers, members of Business Link, bank 
representatives and representatives of the local business community. 
 
 
 
                                                 
1 ‘Business Support – Response to the Current Economic Climate’ p11 para. 4.1(b). Website link: 
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=357  
2 Website link: http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=356  
3 Website link: http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=357  

Page 61



 2 

Complainants 
 

2.1 In June 2011 a former employee of Enterprise Solutions raised concerns 
about the BIG and ISUS grant programmes. The complainant was latterly 
joined by a second former employee in raising these concerns. 

 
2.2 On 29th June 2011, a complainant emailed Invest Wirral and Enterprise 

Solutions with their concerns. On 30th June 2011, the complainant telephoned 
Invest Wirral to reiterate these concerns.  
 

2.3 On 5th July 2011 Wirral Council’s Director of Regeneration and 
representatives of Invest Wirral met the complainant to discuss the issues 
raised. Following this meeting, the matter was raised with NWDA. 
 

2.4 A summary of the complainants’ allegations is included in Grant Thornton’s 
final report documentation.  
 

2.5 On 12th August 2011 these allegations were reported to internal audit, and an 
investigation was commenced into the issues raised, latterly conducted by the 
Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Review of Internal Audit draft reports 
 

3.1 Following the decision of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor to retire, the 
Council’s Chief Executive requested that the Interim Director of Finance 
review the reports in their draft form. 

 
3.2 The Interim Director of Finance reported that the draft BIG report would not 

stand up to an external review of the working papers and supporting 
evidence.  
 

3.3 The draft internal audit reports were not made publicly available at this point in 
order not to prejudice any possible future investigations into the complainants’ 
concerns, not, as has been suggested, because the reports were critical of 
council officers. 
 

3.4 The Interim Director of Finance recommended that an external firm of 
accountants or solicitors specialising in investigations for local authorities 
reviewed the evidence, allegations and investigations that had taken place. 
 

3.5 In October 2012, following a tender process, Grant Thornton were appointed 
to deliver this work. 
 

Page 62



 3 

 
Grant Thornton’s BIG report 
 

4.1 Grant Thornton reviewed all of the BIG grants specifically highlighted by the 
complainants.  
 

4.2 Of these, the only major finding was a £500 repeated entry in one company’s 
accounts. As the provider (Enterprise Solutions) was the same as for the 
ISUS scheme, the report was referred to the Police for their consideration. A 
formal written complaint was made to the Police in the form of a statement, 
specifically in relation to ISUS, but which made reference to the BIG scheme.  
 

4.3 Following receipt of the external investigator’s reports on 7th March 2013 and 
after a period of verification and fact checking, Wirral Council published Grant 
Thornton’s summary of its report into BIG as a news story on its website4.  
 

4.4 On 23rd April 2014 the Police wrote to the Council advising that no action was 
to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s draft reports, commenting on 
the Council’s openness and assistance during the enquiry. The Council 
reported the Police response to the external investigator.  
 

4.5 The finalised report was received by Wirral Council on 2nd May 2014. 
 

4.6 The key findings of the BIG report relating to Wirral Council were: 
 

• No concerns were identified regarding the integrity or honesty of any 
Council employees5. 

 
• The external investigators had free access to all information and 

materials held by Wirral Council, and to all employees of Wirral Council 
and Invest Wirral6. 

 
• Wirral Council provided a Service Level Agreement for Enterprise 

Solutions to offer specialist business support, but Grant Thornton says 
it understands that this was never signed7. 

 
• Grant Thornton recommended that Wirral Council should review the 

criteria used to consider current and future grant applications8. 
 

• The investigator notes that how the BIG Panel was to make its 
decisions was not reflected in written terms of reference9. 

 

                                                 
4 Since December 2012, news items on the Wirral Council website are automatically deleted after 6 
months to save space. This news item has since been deleted. 
5 BIG Report – Introduction p2 para. 1.12 
6 BIG Report – Introduction p2 para. 1.12 
7 BIG Report Executive Summary p3 para. 1.16 
8 BIG Report – Recommendations p56 para. 7.7 
9 BIG Report – Recommendations p56 para. 7.9 

Page 63



 4 

• The investigator was unable to find documentary evidence of any 
questions regarding the solvency of the applicants being raised during 
the application process or discussed by the BIG panel10. 

                                                 
10 BIG Report – Executive Summary p6 para. 2.11 

Page 64



 5 

 
Conclusion 
 

5.1 The external investigator identified issues around the way applications were 
processed for the BIG panel, mostly surrounding the depth of analysis 
provided to BIG panel members.  

 
5.2 Grant schemes will always contain judgements that are inherently subjective, 

and, as noted by the investigator, their report makes no claim to review the 
success of the scheme in hindsight. The report is restricted to looking at 6 
applications, all supplied to the investigator by the complainant who had 
helped to develop them for Enterprise Solutions. 
 

5.3 Over 40 companies received BIG grants under the scheme, of which the vast 
majority were still trading as of July 2014. 
 

5.4 Of particular importance is the fact that, of the small number of applications 
discussed in the external investigator’s report, as of July 2014, the majority 
are still trading.  
 

5.5 By any account therefore, the BIG scheme has had a positive effect on 
Wirral’s economy and business community, creating and safeguarding jobs 
and, in most cases, providing businesses with the resources to expand their 
activities. 
 

Page 65



 6 

Notes on Redaction 
 

6.1 The reports were redacted using the following criteria: 
 
6.2 It is widely reported that the company at the centre of these investigations 

was Enterprise Solutions Limited (also trading as Wirral Biz). This is clear 
from Council documentation including committee reports and other 
documentation that is available to the public through our normal disclosure 
policy. 
 

6.3 As such no redaction has been undertaken in respect of Enterprise Solutions 
or its directors as this information is publicly available. 
 

6.4 The Council has a policy in relation to disclosure of officer’s names and where 
council officers may have been named within the reports this policy, based on 
pay scale and position, has been applied to protect their identity. 
 

6.5 Similar protection has been applied to individuals employed either directly or 
as consultants by Enterprise Solutions – and therefore no individual engaged 
by Enterprise Solutions has been named. 
 

6.6 Information that has been considered commercially sensitive has also been 
redacted. Whilst a number of the companies referred to in these reports are 
Limited companies and as such have their accounts on record at Companies 
House, there are instances where financial information is far greater and more 
detailed than that filed at Companies House and as such all financial 
information has been withheld from publication. 
 

6.7 There are documents, specifically contract documents within the Appendices, 
that Wirral Council are not the publishers and as such may also be deemed 
commercially sensitive. 
 

Page 66



 1 

ISUS 
 
 
Background 
 

1.1 On 1st April 2009 the North West Development Agency (NWDA) introduced a 
Regional Business Start Programme called Intensive Start-Up Support 
(ISUS). 
 

1.2 Funding was made available by the NWDA and European Regional 
Development Funding (ERDF) to support the ISUS programme. 
 

1.3 NWDA employed A4e to act as managing agents and auditors to the ISUS 
programme. A4e managed the ISUS programme on behalf of NWDA. 
 

1.4 The NWDA undertook a tendering exercise to invite suppliers to tender to 
deliver its programme for the North West. Successful suppliers were then 
invited to become members of an approved panel. 
 

1.5 Local authorities like Wirral were selected as delivery partners. Wirral 
undertook its own mini tender exercise from the approved suppliers on the 
NWDA list to deliver the scheme. The Request for Tender was drafted with 
the template used by the NWDA.  
 

1.6 Following evaluation of the submitted tender documents, Enterprise Solutions 
was awarded the contract, having scored highest. 
 

1.7 The NWDA set a target of 676 new business start-ups for the three-year 
programme, and provided an allocation of £1,593,863 to achieve this and 
other agreed outputs. 
 

1.8 Wirral Council set its own, increased target of 900 new business start-ups, 
having identified this number as being necessary to assist in closing Wirral’s 
enterprise gap, as identified in the Regional Economic Strategy. 
 

1.9 The authority therefore agreed to provide £386,137 of Wirral’s Working 
Neighbourhoods funding to supplement NWDA’s allocation. 
 

1.10 Before ISUS, Wirral Council already had its own business start programme, 
offering a wider range of support. In its tender, Wirral specified that it might 
wish to procure these additional services because of their proven benefits to 
the programme. 
 

1.11 This additional work was awarded to Enterprise Solutions (NW) Limited in 
December 20091 and was formalised by a separate agreement between the 
Council and Enterprise Solutions (NW) Limited. 
 

                                                 
1 Approved by Cabinet 26th November 2009. Website link: 
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=732  

Page 67



 2 

1.12 To maximise the amount of support that could be given to businesses from 
the Council’s funding allocation, grants were restricted to £500 per business. 
 

1.13 Enterprise Solutions (NW) Limited employed a number of Business Advisors 
to deliver elements of the programme. 
 
Complainants 
 

2.1 In June 2011 a former employee of Enterprise Solutions raised concerns 
about the BIG and ISUS grant programmes. The complainant was latterly 
joined by a second former employee in raising concerns. 

 
2.2 On 29th June 2011, a complainant emailed Invest Wirral and Enterprise 

Solutions with their concerns. On 30th June 2011, the complainant telephoned 
Invest Wirral to reiterate these concerns.  
 

2.3 On 5th July 2011 Wirral Council’s Director of Regeneration and 
representatives of Invest Wirral met the complainant to discuss the issues 
raised. Following this meeting, the matter was raised with NWDA. 
 

2.4 A summary of the complainants’ allegations is included in Grant Thornton’s 
final report documentation.  
 

2.5 On 12th August 2011 these allegations were reported to internal audit, and an 
investigation was commenced into the issues raised, latterly conducted by the 
Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Review of Internal Audit draft reports 
 

3.1 Following the decision of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor to retire Wirral 
Council’s Chief Executive requested that the Interim Director of Finance 
review the reports in their current, draft form. 

 
3.2 The Interim Director of Finance reported that the draft Internal Audit BIG 

report would not stand up to an external review of the working papers and 
supporting evidence, and that this would also apply to the draft Internal Audit 
ISUS report.  
 

3.3 The draft Internal Audit reports were not made publicly available at this point 
in order not to prejudice any possible future investigations into the 
complainants’ concerns, not, as has been suggested, because the reports 
were critical of council officers. 
 

3.4 The Interim Director of Finance recommended that an external firm of 
accountants or solicitors specialising in investigations for local authorities 
reviewed the evidence, allegations and investigations that had taken place. 
 

3.5 In October 2012, following a tender process, Grant Thornton were appointed 
to deliver this work. 
 

Page 68



 3 

Grant Thornton’s ISUS report 
 

4.1 The ISUS report was received by Wirral Council in draft form in March 2013.  
 

4.2 While there was no suggestion of illegality or wrongdoing by Council officers, 
Grant Thornton’s report strongly discouraged the Council from sharing its 
findings with Enterprise Solutions if it concluded that further investigation was 
applicable2.  
 

4.3 Grant Thornton recommended that the Council considered referring the 
matter to the Police3. 
 

4.4 Upon receipt of the external investigator’s draft reports, and recognising that 
publication could have had the potential effect of prejudicing any further 
investigation by other parties4, the Leader of the Council announced that he 
had referred the ISUS report to the Department of Business, Innovation and 
Skills and to the Police, for them to decide whether to investigate other parties 
further. 
 

4.5 On 23rd April 2014 the Police wrote to the Council advising that no action was 
to be taken following receipt of Grant Thornton’s draft reports, commenting on 
the Council’s openness and assistance during the enquiry. The Council 
reported the Police response to the external investigator.  
 

4.6 The finalised report was received by Wirral Council on 2nd May 2014. 
 

4.7 The key findings of the ISUS report relating to Wirral Council were: 
 

• No concerns were identified regarding the integrity or honesty of any 
Council employees5. 

 
• The investigator was given the access it required to Wirral Council and 

Invest Wirral employees6, as well as to all information and documents 
held by the Council. 

 
• Wirral Council and Grant Thornton had both experienced difficulties in 

accessing Enterprise Solutions records7. 
 

• Wirral Council could not be expected to ‘audit the auditors’ i.e. to look 
for weaknesses in A4e’s work8. 

 
• The investigator says that, by deciding to undertake monitoring reviews 

of the businesses supported when the ISUS programme ended (as 

                                                 
2 ISUS Report p83 para. 9.12 
3 p83 para. 9.18 
4 p83 para. 9.20 
5 ISUS Summary Report p2 para. 1.13 
6 ISUS Summary Report p2 para. 1.13 
7 ISUS Report p4 para. 2.11 
8 ISUS Summary Report p15 para. 2.51 

Page 69



 4 

was the responsibility of Enterprise Solutions) the Council has allowed 
Enterprise Solutions to avoid fulfilling one of its contractual obligations9. 

 
• Because of this, a significant amount of public money (in the form of 

Council officers’ time) has been wasted on a ‘basic point of contract 
compliance’10. 

 
• However, Grant Thornton said it could not reach a definitive conclusion 

as to whether the anomalies described in their report resulted in 
overpayment11. 

 
• The report suggests that Wirral Council should obtain legal advice to 

quantify any loss it may have suffered12. 
 

• Grant Thornton recommends that this advice should be sought against 
a backdrop in which one litigant (ISUS 1) has concluded that costly 
litigation against Enterprise Solutions should be avoided on the 
understanding that Enterprise Solutions has few resources with which 
to compensate him13.  

 
• Given the complexity of this matter and key evidence such as the 

complete CRM database not being available, the Council’s Head of 
Legal and Member Services has recommended that action to recover 
specific sums should only be considered if the requisite evidential test 
is met. The litigation risk is a material and significant consideration at 
this time given the difficulties in securing all the relevant evidence.  

 
• Grant Thornton’s report asks if the Council should consider whether the 

sample reviewed was sufficiently large and/or representative to merit 
litigation or Police investigation14.  

 
• They also recommend that Wirral Council continues to search for a full 

set of contractual information and the CRM database15. 
 

• The report also recommends that Wirral creates a repository of signed 
contracts16. 

 

                                                 
9 ISUS Report p10 para. 3.22 
10 p26 para. 4.56 
11 p34 para. 5.4 
12 p82 para. 9.7 
13 p82 para. 9.10 
14 p15 para. 3.52 
15 p8 para. 3.13 
16 p85-86 para. 9.34 

Page 70



 5 

Conclusion 
 

5.1 The ISUS scheme was set up and administered by the NWDA, with A4e as 
managers and auditors, with some funding support provided by Wirral Council 
to meet the local authority’s economic objectives. 

 
5.2 The scheme ran from October 1st 2009 to December 31st 2011. 

 
5.3 The recorded outputs from the ISUS scheme met the initial target set by 

NWDA by achieving 877 new business starts (initial target was 676). This fell 
slightly short of Wirral Council’s target of 900 new business starts. 
 

5.4 The scheme created 1,095 new jobs, short of the NWDA target of 1,216. 
 

5.5 For both these outputs it should be noted that the dissolution of the NWDA 
meant that the scheme did not run its full course. 
 

5.6 At the end of 12 months of the scheme, 94% of new businesses were still 
trading, which surpassed the 93% target set by the NWDA. 
 

5.7 The ISUS scheme can thereby be said to have been a mostly successful 
funding programme, which had significant positive impacts on Wirral’s 
economy and business environment. 

 
 

Page 71



 6 

Notes on Redaction 
 

6.1 The reports were redacted using the following criteria: 
 
6.2 It is widely reported that the company at the centre of these investigations 

was Enterprise Solutions Limited (also trading as Wirral Biz). This is clear 
from Council documentation including committee reports and other 
documentation that is available to the public through our normal disclosure 
policy. 
 

6.3 As such no redaction has been undertaken in respect of Enterprise Solutions 
or its directors as this information is publicly available. 
 

6.4 The Council has a policy in relation to disclosure of officer’s names and where 
council officers may have been named within the reports this policy, based on 
pay scale and position, has been applied to protect their identity. 
 

6.5 Similar protection has been applied to individuals employed either directly or 
as consultants by Enterprise Solutions – and therefore no individual engaged 
by Enterprise Solutions has been named. 
 

6.6 Information that has been considered commercially sensitive has also been 
redacted. Whilst a number of the companies referred to in these reports are 
Limited companies and as such have their accounts on record at Companies 
House, there are instances where financial information is far greater and more 
detailed than that filed at Companies House and as such all financial 
information has been withheld from publication. 
 

6.7 There are documents, specifically contract documents within the Appendices, 
that Wirral Council are not the publishers and as such may also be deemed 
commercially sensitive. 
 

Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Business Investment Grant (BIG) and Intensive Start Up Scheme (ISUS) Investigations
	App 1 IA Draft BIG Report
	App 2 IA Draft ISUS Report
	App 3 PT Review of IA Reports
	App 6 Police Letter 23-4-2014
	App 7 BIG Summary Report
	App 8 ISUS Summary Report
	App 10 GT Exec Summary BIG Report


